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One of the signifier of the transition of medieval state into modern state was the form of punishment it introduced deviants and non-conformists. Deviants and non-conformists who refused to accept the established order of state and its forms of knowledge were categorized as criminals. The pre-modern states disciplined such rebels through a evolved set of elaborate punishment system which hinged on ‘injury,’ ‘pain,’ and ‘spectacle.’ In other words the state punished the criminal by causing pain in his body through every possible form of torture and then also making a display of it my enacting the entire punishment amidst the public.  In this culture the human body is a very important component and pain was a weapon through which once could either eliminate the forces of resistance or regain control over it. These were the forms through which power, authority and hegemony could be established and sustained. Deviants, non-conformists and criminals were a threat to the authority of the state and the public demonstration of punishment reinforced the state’s power through which a display of vengeance and order could be restored. But gradually such forms of discipline and punishment began to prove counterproductive. On the one hand philosophers were contemplating that the desire to cause pain was not a seemly one for state apparatus’ and on the other hand the crowds which came to watch the spectacle of torture and death were becoming more and more unruly and restless. I was becoming a site of political unrest and critique of social theorists. The modern state then shifted their attention from body to mind for punishment. It evolved a science of engineering though which mind could be controlled through ‘Spatialisation’ and minute control of activity and repetitive exercise by which ‘abnormal’ citizens could be turned back into ‘normal’ meaning law-abiding and capitulation to established power and authority. It emphasized on the transformation of the forms of disciplining and punishment by introducing a system by which visible pain would be the least, the spectacle of punishment unseen and yet deviants are not only controlled by reformed to such an extent they parrot the ideologies of the state itself. Thus on the one hand a organized set of schools, army and factories were introduced to instruct normative behaviour and on the other hand institutions like prisons, hospitals, madhouses were established were ‘non-normal people could be houses and excluded from the normal society. The ideologues of the modern state also evolved the concept of the panopticon- a simple architectural idea by which “morals reformed, health, preserved, industry invigorated, instruction diffused, public burden lightened and economy seated as it were upon a rock- the Gordian knot of poor laws not cut, but united all by a simple idea of architecture.”
 The Utilitarian Philosopher Jeremy Bentham’s idea of Panopticon revolutionized the idea of punishment in the modern state. Michel Foucault had picked it as one of the links between the pre modern and modern state as far as exercise of power and authority was concerned. The idea was that every person would be isolated in a small space whereby they all might be observed by a single agency from a center tower. The space would be illuminated around the perimeter so that each person could be clearly watched and monitored by the central observer but spatialised persons would neither see each other or the observer. It would not just be a prison but the concept will be used for factories, schools, barracks, hospitals madhouses and so on where non-conformists would be reformed. It would in turn produce stereo types and conformists and rebels into ideologues of the state nullifying all threats to the state and its authority. These were institutions where discipline was being developed in all such different modes. Similarly punishment was being changed as well. The system of graded punishment was reduced to one single punishment – imprisonment – either in the prison house or in his own house. Prisons were not for punishment but holding people whose trials are pending. The final punishment would have to be waited for. The long wait and anxiety for anticipated verdict would be a greater punishment than public lynching or tearing a body apart by pulling horses. The Panopticon aimed at disciplining through eternal surveillance and the internal training to reduce the deviant into docility instead of relying on physical force or violence. “The major effect of the Panopticon to: induce in the inmate a state of consciousness and permanent visibility that assures the automatic functioning of power. So to arrange things that the surveillance is permanent in its effect, even it is discontinuous in its actions; that the perfection of power should tend to render its actual exercise unnecessary; that the architectural apparatus should be a machine for creating and sustaining a power relation independent of person who exercises it; in short that the inmates should be caught up in a power situation of which they are themselves the bearers.”

The transition of India from a medieval to modern state was with the take over of power by the British. But it was colonial state whose principles of governance were based on colonial premises. When the same state made its transition to a modern nation-state, it began to evolve its own political culture. Right from the very beginning of its independence from British colonialism, Indian state was confronted with multiple forms of dissidence. There were multiple nation theory out of which one group succeeded in securing a separate nation through the partition of the country; secessionist threats from the Princely states, disputed mergers, sub-nationalist movements, Left wing uprisings foreign invasions, and withdrawal threats even from tiny minority tribes like the Nagas and Mizos. In the face of such crisis the infant nation state began to crumble. Immediately began to transform its character. Its liberal façade was giving way to ruthless repressive machinery. It endeavoured to counter the multiplying crises by emulating European methods of negotiating dissidence and rebellion. New modes of disciplining and punishments were evolved. By the time the Mizo uprising took place the Indian State had already been experienced in tackling insurgencies in Nagaland, Kashmir and secessionism in Tamil Nadu.
 It had successfully negotiated violent sub-nationalist movements in Andhra Pradesh, Punjab and such states where a separate state movements had developed as well as there was a uprising on the issue of National language. Wisened by such experiences, the state lost no time on deciding what was the correct way of dealing with Mizo uprising. In Nagaland, Nehru waited from 1947 to 1952 before agreeing to use the army. Nehru tried to reasonable with the Nagas. Because he realized that the Nagas were ‘a tough people who could much trouble and there was danger in any hurried attempt to absorb their areas into standard administration.  At the same time he did not want the colonial policy of excluding the Nagas and keeping them as museum pieces. But they should be protected from being swamped by the population of rest of India. The thrust of his idea of Naga policy was to grant them fullest autonomy so that their traditions, customs and culture should be protected and perpetuated but at the same time ensure their fullest development at par with the rest of India. Indian statesmen should approach the Nagas superciliously but talk to them directly as the problem was more psychological than political. He felt any well–meaning approach will be appreciated by the Nagas which is why he planned to talk to the Nagas himself. In fact despite the trouble he was facing at home post-independence he granted time to talk to the Naga delegations again and again even while they were campaigning internationally for independence. Nehru understood that ‘the movement for independence among the Nagas is entirely based on the assumption that Indians are foreigners ruling over the tribe. Out policy must be aimed at removing this impression. He was sanguine that ‘if the government keeps its head cool and restrains its hand, the whole movement may gradually fizzle out.’ He instructed the provincial government accordingly that while demand for independence should be rejected categorically and to make it clear that violence would not be tolerated under any circumstances. He even instructed that punitive measures should be avoided by the local administration. Nehru was convinced that ‘if the government keeps its head cool and restrain its hand the whole movement may gradually fizzle out.’ In fact he was still sure that if ‘the Naga situation would have been better if it had been handled a little more competently by the local officers and if some officers who were notoriously unpopular had not been kept there.’ The sudden recourse to violent method by the Nagas angered Nehru. The Naga recourse to violence angered Nehru left with him with few options.. He was against military solution because he knew that ‘the Nagas were a tough and fine people and we may carry on for a generation without solving the problem.’ In fact Nehru strongly vetoed a proposal to machine gun the Naga hostiles from air. Nehru asked Thimayya, the most distinguished of the senior army commanders was asked to take charge immediately. He urged the army to act swiftly but not brutally. The overall objective of the army should be to try and ‘win the hearts of the people, not to terrify or frighten them.’ He also instructed the chief minister of Assam who was the head of the administration in the Naga hills that military measure was only temporary, to be applied so long as rebels used arms but ‘but there is something much more to it than merely a military approach…There can be no doubt that an armed revolt has to be met by force and suppressed. There are no two opinions about that and we shall set about it as efficiently and effectively as possible. But our whole past and present outlook is based on force by itself being no remedy. We have prepared this in regard to the greater problems of the world. Much more must we remember this when dealing with our countrymen who have to won over and not merely suppressed.’ But as far as the Mizos revolt was concerned no such consideration was shown. As soon as the news of the coup de etat by Mizo National Front broke, the Indian state acted promptly and swiftly. 
The State Response

Immediately on receipt of information about the out break of violence in Mizo hills, the government send a team of officers, consisting of the Commissioner of the division, the inspector general of Police (Assam Rifles) and  a senior officer of the army to Aizawl to study the situation and suggest ways and means to quell the rebellion. It suggested that the area be handed over to the army. On 2 March 1966 the Government of Assam declared the district a disturbed area. The Extra Ordinary Gazette Notification of the Government of India published on 6 March 1966 declared the activities of MNF “prejudicial to the security of the Mizo district in the state of Assam and the adjoining parts of the territory of India. The Central government by effecting necessary amendment ordered that Rule 32 of the Defense of India Rule 1962 Rule shall be applicable to the MNF. The army reached Aizawl on the evening of 6 March. The security forces gained control of the district headquarter after which the army marched towards Lunglei but the town was completely under the control of rebels. The army threatened to bomb it. The church leaders interfered and requested the army not bomb the town and they would secure the surrender of the rebels. The troops entered Lunglei on 13 March, to Champai the next day and Demagiri on 17 March. In an operation all the important towns and posts were cleared of the influence of the MNF armed forces. The MNF volunteers took the jungles of Pakistan and Burma. 

On 6 March 1966 the MNF was declared unlawful. The State Government air dropped one lakh leaflets in the district to inform the people of the facts of the situation and to warn them not to participate in rebellious activities. The army took over and launched the counter-insurgency operations. It followed a set pattern. On the strength of a tip off from the state intelligence official or local informers a particular village or a locality where the insurgents had reportedly taken shelter, would be marked.  Curfew would be imposed in the area all of a sudden in the early morning hours when everybody was asleep and on no one could run away. The area then would be cordoned off and announcements made over the loud speakers that curfew had been imposed and on one should venture out of their houses. Then an operation would be launched to screen and frisk children, women and old people inside houses and rest would then be taken out in the open field where tents were build for interrogation though an identifier. Occasionally during such operations encounters broke out between the rebels and the army resulting in causalities. 

Raids by Indian Air Force

By the time the MNF movement had broken out, the Indian State was quite experienced in dealing with insurgency. It had its first encounter with such a phenomena when the Nagas movement broke out. It was followed by Kashmir where a mass resistance was being dealt with the army. In the early sixties there was turmoil over National Language Issue which had blown into a secessionist movement in Tamil Nadu. it was just three years since the humiliating defeat in the hands of the Chinese in this region only. It was also only six months since the 1965 war with Pakistan had just concluded. There was also a brewing peasant insurrection which subsequently developed into the Naxalite movement. The Indian army had its own hands full and the Indian state bewildered. It was the ‘dangerous decades’ that the colonialist dreamt. The only problem was though violence in other areas were somewhat in control, the insurgency problem in Nagaland and Kashmir was nowhere under control. Despite monstrous power given through many legislation, the Indian army could neither win the Naga war nor could promise any end to it. The Indian State could not afford another one in the north east India. Therefore they acted very swiftly. All the legislations that they had used in Nagaland were promptly promulgated. In Nagaland army was sent only after initial negotiations failed and violent activities were reported. In Mizoram such ‘mistake’ was avoided. Army was promptly called in. The army was under pressure to provide evidence of higher level of competence than they had shown over the past year, particularly in the background of their overall decade long performance in counter insurgency operations in Nagaland.

 It also resorted to what they have never done on any of its people, either Nagas or Kashmiris, bomb the areas from air. There is a controversy over the reported air bombing of Aizawl town as the Government of Assam subsequently denied it and there was no evidence by any outsiders. However the army sources stated, “the Indian Air force attempted to land reinforcements and supplies by helicopters but failed due to heavy and accurate sniping by the rebels who had by now surrounded the garrison (Aizawl) from all sides. Ultimately air strikes by fighter aircrafts were called at 11.30 AM on 5th March. The air strikes were repeated in the afternoon which forced the rebels to disperse. When another strike came on 6 March the rebel guerillas had melted away in the jungles. Many had fled across the border to East Pakistan.” Pu Vanlawma, one of the most respected leaders of the Mizos testified this in his autobiography, “military plane flew over Aizawl city and strafed homes. It was followed by three other air plains, each of which strafed homes too.” The Committee to investigate the human right violation constituted on the personal initiative of two Khasi leader, G G Swell, a Member of Parliament and Rev J J M Nichols Roy ad Member of the Assam Legislative Assembly had taken interviews of the people of Aizawl wherein people reported that ‘there were two types of planes which flew over Aizawl – good planes and angry planes.’ The good planes were those which flew comparatively slowly and did not spit out fire or smoke; the angry planes were those which escaped to a distance before the sound of their coming could be heard and who spat out smoke and fire.” Several localities of Aizawl such as Republic Veng, Hmeichche Veng, Dawrpuii Veng and Chhinga Veng were completely destroyed. Terrified civilians, who were not warned of such raids, began leaving the Aizawl and move out of Mizoram. Others packed up important belongings and took shelter in gorges and ravines around Aizawl fearing more air raids. J J M Nichols Roy raised the issue of air raids in the Assam Legislative Assembly on 5th April 1966 itself. He said, “we believe on the 5th and 6th of March the Air Force was brought into play and was used for strafing and machine-gunning  and as far as we can understand, bombing Aijal town. Sir it has been stated by the Chief Minister that bombing was not used…sir this use of excessive force very use of Air Force, we believe, for taking Aijal was excessive. Because you cannot pinpoint and you cannot distinguish from the air who is loyal and who is not loyal, who is a MNF and who is somebody with allegiance to the Mizo Union, the ruling party in the Mizo district. Over and above the use of excessive force by the use of Air Force and the use of bombs, what we will call bombs which we have seen and which we have evidence of were also excessive by the army when they entered the Mizo hills. Nichols Roy also referred to an interview by Indian Prime Minister Indira Gandhi, who in reply to a question from a foreign journalist whether there was air bombing on the Mizo people, stated that Air Force was used only to drop men and supplies. Subsequently the Chief Minister, reported ly admitted to the strafing by Indian Air Force planes and had at least two major strikes in Aizawl Town.  Bombs and rockets were used resulting in destruction of houses and properties as was evident from the nature of destruction that was discovered subsequently. Indian Military historians however finally admitted that the air raids were actually perpetrated. A participant of the relief operation to evict the MNF was Mathew Thomas commanding officer of 2 PARA involved in the operations. His recall of the event was “when 61 Mountain Brigade was pushed in with 8 SIKH in the lead and 2 PARA behind them, 8 SIKH could not get into Aizawl because of the fact that Assam Rifles were still holding out, but the Mizos were all around. We had to bring the Air Force. It strafed them and it was only after that we were able to push in and get into Aizawl…the situation was very volatile.” Heliborne reinforcements were attempted but ‘the sniping was too close to the camp and too heavy for choppers to come down.’ Therefore ‘at last at 1130 hours came the air strikes, IAF fighters strafing hostile positions all around the Battalion area. The strafing was repeated in the afternoon and it soon became apparent that the hostiles were beginning to scatter….’ At the end of air action, Aizawl town caught fire. Later ‘from 9 to 13 march the IAF strafed the hostile positions, forcing them to scatter and brought some relief to the hard pressed garrison (at Demagiri.)’ 
Discipline and Punish

The action of his protégé Laldenga had shocked the Assam Chief Minister Bimala Prasad Chaliha who had patronized Laldenga and his MNF as a counter against ruling Mizo Union. Only two months back he had released Laldenga from prison ignoring all cautions. Hence the coup de etat led by Laldenga was a betrayal for him. He reportedly had said, “It needs to be a shock absorber to be a Chief Minister.” Chaliha knew that now there was no option but to hand over Mizo hills to the army. He also knew what did the army rule meant. He told his officer, “The army will [now] move into Mizo Hills. When the army moves, it means what it means.” The 61 Mountain Brigade of the Indian army moved into Mizoram in the first week of March 1966. More forces, both army and Para military followed. To give more power to the army the Armed Forces Special Power (Assam and Manipur) Act 1958 was enforced in Mizo Hills. The Armed Forces Special Power Act 1958 was promulgated in the wake of the uprising in Naga Hills for giving added power to the army. It was mainly aimed at dealing with such armed uprisings and insurgent activities against the Indian state. As it did not help diminishing the uprising or contain insurgency it was amended in 1972. It had enormous power given to the army to perpetrate any kind of atrocity on the civilian people in the name of counter insurgency operations. In those days when no human right violation monitoring agencies had emerged in the region, the army was supreme in the hills of north east India. For example, under Section 4 of the Armed Forces Special Power Act and its amended version of 1972, any commissioned officer, warrant officer, non-commissioned officer or any other person of equivalent rank in the armed forces may in a disturbed area.

(a) If he is of opinion that it is necessary to do for the maintenance of public order, after giving such due warning as he may consider necessary, fire upon or otherwise use force, even to the causing of death, against any person who is acting in contravention of any law of order for the time being in force in the disturbed area prohibiting the assembly of five or more persons or the carrying of weapons or things capable of being used as weapons or of fire arms, ammunition or explosive substances.

(b) …. destroy any arms dump, prepared or fortified position or shelter from which armed attacks are made or are likely to be made or are attempted to be made, or any structure used as a training camp for armed volunteers or utilized as a hideout by armed gangs or absconders wanted for any offence;

(c) Arrest without warrant, any person who has committed a cognizable offence or against whom a reasonable suspicion exists that he has committed or is about to commit a cognizable offence and may use such force as may be necessary to effect the arrest.

(d) Enter and search without warrant any premises to make any such arrest as aforesaid or to recover any person believed to be wrongfully restrained or confined or any property reasonable suspected to be stolen property or any arms, ammunition or explosive substances believed to be unlawfully kept in such premises, and may for the purpose use such force as may be necessary. 


As can be seen the laws on surveillance were so carefully phrased that no office needed to be committed, nor even contemplated by the tribal to enable any petty havildar of the Indian Army to take drastic actions against the former. The Nagaland Security Regulation Act of 1962 conferred special provisions for search giving the same latitude to the police officer to determine intent. The police had a right to search ‘any street, alley, public place or open space’ to check whether a person is carrying ‘in contravention of the law’ not only corrosive substances or explosives ‘but any article which (the police have) reason to believe is being or is about to be used in contravening any order’. Although there were no references to any power to the army to burn down civil habitation, villages and granaries were systematically burnt down by taking shelter under the provisions in Clause (b) mentioned earlier in this chapter, Section 5 of the Armed Forces Special Power Act, 1958 also stipulated that ‘any person arrested and taken into custody under this regulation shall be made over to the officer in charge of the nearest police station with the least possible delay together with a report of the circumstances occasioning the arrest’. But taking advantage of the ambiguous phrase ‘least possible delay;’ the army would deal with the suspect themselves sometimes leading even to his death without handing him over to the local police. The government also armed itself with the right to obtain information. The government could be an order asks any person to produce any such information or article in his possession. The government also was empowered to impose collective punishment – not for commission of offences that may be held to be cognizable but for failing to fulfill responsibilities that it had demanded from the tribal. Section 7 of the Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act. Stated that:


If it appears to the state that the inhabitants in any area are concerned in or abetting the commission of offences pre-judicially affecting the public safety or the maintenance of supplies or service necessary to the life of the community or are harbouring persons concerned in the commission of such offences are failing to render all assistance in their power to discover or to apprehend the offender or are suppressing material evidence, that state government may impose a collective fine.


As against these, Section 6 of the Armed Forces Special Power Act 1958 (Amended in 1972) assured for good measure complete autonomy and immunity to the members of the armed forces personnel engaged in all such operations from being called upon to account for their actions: ‘No prosecution, suit or other legal proceedings shall be instituted, except with the previous sanction of the Central Government, against any person in respect of anything done or purported to be done in exercise of powers conferred by regulation’.
While the armed forces personnel were thus given a free hand without any accountability, the tribal were not provided any legal redress, Section 34 (1) of the Nagaland Security Regulation Act. of 1962 stipulated that ‘no court shall take cognizance of the provisions of this regulation or of any order made thereunder, except on a report in writing of the facts constituting such contravention made by a public servant’. The tribal therefore could not seek redress from courts against all the arbitrary powers that the state had over him. Requisition of his property, destruction of his food stock, burning of his habitation, removing him without so much as a right to raise a slogan against the state, and deprivation of his access to his forest resources without providing him with any alternative for his subsistence.

Spatialisation of the population: Minute Control of Activity

Replicating the arrangements made by the British and American armies in Malaya and by Americans in Vietnam respectively, it was decided by the Indian government to start a scheme of Regrouping of villages by which a majority of the Mizo traditional villages would be shifted along with their people to a new site where their could be kept under army surveillance. These new site would be along the highways near an army outpost. It would prevent the MNF cadres from any contact with the villagers which were their support base and on whom they depended on their food and shelter. With this idea a grand scheme of uprooting about 60,000 people and resettling them in newer sites was mooted. 
 It was said that there would be “no tinge of force and people will be allowed to join the group voluntarily.”
  Tarlok Singh, Member of the Planning Commission, visited Mizoram in 1966 and approved of the regrouping of villages euphemistically described as economically viable villages.
 The State’s rationalization was different. Nari Rustomji, the Chief Secretary, stated that “…(re)grouping has become necessary because of increasing harassment, looting and even killing my Mizo hostiles…[therefore] people of isolated villages would be moved to sager villages the shifting families would be allowed to carry with them whatever they could. The army would transport household articles which could not be carried in head load.”
 The army’s role was however much more than outlined by Rustomji. In reality the Indian Army would move and surround the notified villages before dawn, issue quick notices to the villagers to take their bedding, etc. and move them notices to the villagers to take their beddings, etc. and move them to the new site. Here identity cards were issued to them and barricades constructed to restrict their movement. The old and abandoned villages with their granaries were then burnt. About 50 to 100 villages were initially shifted from their original sites and settled along the highway and placed under the charge of the army so that this can be kept isolated from the insurgents and a strict vigil can be maintained. 

School of Counter Insurgency Thought

No insurgency could sustain without the support of the civilian population. Mao Tse Tung had formulated that revolutionaries must take to the people as fish takes to water. No people’s war could be fought without the people. Hence revolutionaries much carry their fight by remaining within the people. Civilians are not just the support base for insurgents; they are the lifeline of the underground as they provide food, shelter, information and manpower to the underground activities. Therefore state always targets the civilian population to separate the civilians from the rebels. Intelligence is an important factor in counter insurgency operations.  Conversely it is equally important to deny information to the rebels, who depend on the civil population not only for intelligence but also logistic support. This meant isolating the rebels from population centre. The concentration of civilians in guarded areas to deny the guerillas access to food or other support was not a new idea. The Russians had introduced slow strangulations against the Murids, the fundamentalist Islamic monastic order led by Shamil in Caucasus in the 1840’s cutting guerillas from population by a cordon sanitaire of military outposts. This method subsequently emerging as a very commons and effective approach of counter emergency which was adopted in different situations like the British campaign against Boers in the latter stages of the South African campaign, the Spanish campaign in Cuba in 1895 and 1898 and the US campaign in the Philippines between 1899 and 1902 where all these armies adopted what is known as ‘reconstruction.’ The Americans adopted it when faced with an insurgency in Philippines, the former Spanish colony which they occupied. Commanded by Aurther McArthur, the American forces began to move the rural population into towns in December 1900. In the province of Batangas, Brigadier General Franklin Bell ‘reconstructed’ 10,000 people into ‘protective zones and destroyed all crops, livestock and bulding outside the zones. But these were examples where colonial powers used such method against colonized people. In Malaya the British regime had evicted and resettled a population of 5000,000 from all over Malaya in newly formed protective new villages.

Counter insurgency thinkers are regarded as intellectuals working within and for the repressive apparatus of the state. Their function is to produce ideas of a strategic and tactical kind for the use of that apparatus in wining counter-insurgency wars. Such ideas translated into repressive techniques are meant to be serviceable in assisting the security of the established order. Such thinking is also a significant form of ideology. 

The Indian State took its lessons in anti-insurgency measures from the British and the Americans in Malaya and Vietnam respectively. In fighting the Malayan Races Liberation Army in Malaya the British General Briggs had mooted what was known as Operation Starvation in June 1951. It was the brainchild of a counter-insurgency thinker, Robert Thompson. Its object was to deprive the guerrillas of their source of food and stop them from taking shelter in the villages. The scheme was most effective due to the intervention of Sir Gerald Templar, General, High Commissioner and Director of Operations of Federation of Malaya (1952-1954). Besides imposing restrictions on the selling and distribution of food items, the army also rearranged the Chinese settlements and regrouped the tin and mine workers so as to check the infiltration and exfiltration of the guerrillas with the settled population. The population was no longer scattered. It was concentrated in units of 40,000 moved into just 400 villages, which made it easy to keep a strict watch over them. The device was later tested by the Americans in Vietnam. The British had huge success in the implementing it in Malaysia. They had scored singular success in segregating the Chinese segments from the rest of the population.  The Americans had done it on a limited scale in Vietnam; limited because they could pound the enemy bases from the air at will. In Malaya, the colonialists had concentrated on the rubber and tin mine workers. There was inspiration from the Ma Ma Operation of the Burmese in this operation. 

In October 1966 Lt General Field Marshall Manekshaw, G-O-C in C Eastern Command advocated the application of the same in the insurgency affected areas of Nagaland and Mizoram. In a report sent to the army headquarters in October 1966, Lt Gen (later Field Marshal) sam Manekshaw, GOC in C Eastern Command, Calcutta, recommended that to be effective militarily grouping must be extensive and must intern a very large portion, if not all, of the population of what was then Mizo Hills District. He suggested that grouping may initially be undertaken in  a 10-mile elt on both sides of Vairengte-Aizawl-Lungleh road. The military advantages of this action, according to him, would be to make the road axis secure and thus increase the logistic capacity as well as relatively unhampered road construction work by the Border Road Organization. The grouped villagers could also be gainfully employed to work on the new roads. The 20-mile secure belt thus created would restrict movement of hostile gangs from one sector to another and to and from East Pakistan. Coupled with a ‘food denial’ programme aimed at monitoring and controlling food supplies to the grouped villages, the policy envisaged forcing the insurgents forcing the insurgents into devoting their energies to personal survival rather than armed activity. It would compel the Mizo National Army cadres to migrate into ungrouped and depopulated areas, thus, diminishing the territory required that was required to be dominated by the security forces. The LT. General was also of the opinion that grouping of villages would enable the civil administration to exercise more effective control over a larger population than it was able to do at that time and would eventually lead to destruction of political infra structure of the insurgents by isolating them from their support among the people. He visualized that provision of administrative facilities for the newly re grouped villages would include food supplies, fair price shops, house roofing material like galvanized corrugated iron sheets, dispensaries and doctors and schools. There was considerable debate on the question of resettlement or regrouping of villages, which the army thought was essential for effective counterinsurgency operations. This proposal was advanced by the army as a solution to two more pressing problems. One was the issue fo attacks on convoys by insurgents living in the villages on the Silchar-Aizawl-Lungleh road, which was the lifeline of the district and high security force casualties. Unless the villages within ten miles from the main road were depopulated and were regrouped along the main road and put under constant surveillance of the forces they could not hope to isolate the Mizo insurgents from the population and make the link-lines secure. The army literature however gives the credit of conceptualizing the grouping of villages in Mizoram to Lt. Gen Sagat Singh.  Sagat Singh was an army man who had acquired reputation as a tactician, having commanded the para brigade in the liberation of Goa and in facing up to the Chinese in this stand off at Nathu La in 1967. “To reduce the feeling of neglect by providing food, medial care and other facilities and also to improve security, Sagat decided to group the villages astride the only road in the region that ran between Aizawl and Lungleh. There were strong objections from the civil administration on legal and administrative grounds. Fortunately, Sagat’s excellent rapport with Assam’s Chief Minister B K Medhi and the Governor, B K Nehru, enabled him to have his way and he could carry out the grouping as planned.”
 This was however repudiated by another scholar on the ground that Sagat Singh had take ove the command of 101 Communication zone only 1967 by which time the Grouping Scheme had already been conceptualized. There was some hesitation as it was applied earlier in Naga hills but given up in the face of fierce opposition from moderate (over-ground) Nagas.  In 1957 the system was experimented with in Naga hills. B N Mullick who was the Intelligence Bureau Chief and a close aide of Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru supported the grouping wholeheartedly. It did have a positive effect on the counter insurgency operations according to B N Mullick who felt it had actually broken the spirit of defiance of the Nagas.  But others felt it had produced more hostiles. In fact the opposition to the scheme was so strong that the authorities had hurriedly de-grouped all the Naga villages.

In the mean time following the experimentation in Naga hills the government of Assam has also separately proposed to the Government of India a plan of grouping of 75 villages mainly to the north of Aizawl with a population of 36,517 and had envisaged these centers as protected villages with basic amenities. This was initiated by R Natarajan, the Deputy Commissioner of Mizo Hills, who thought that the army scheme was likely to be drastic and that could be effectively kept in check only if the civil administration could foist a scheme of its own before the army actually puts its own scheme into practice.  It was described by many civilian and army man as one-upmanship at a critical time when a better coordinated rather than adversarial army civil approach was necessary. 

The central cabinet however rejected the army proposal on October 20, 1966. It appears that the main opposition to the army scheme came from the government of Assam particularly B K Nehru, ICS, the Governor of Assam and the Home and Finance ministries of the Centre. But the army embarked on a programme of most forceful lobbying of their case during the next few weeks and also launched a major public relations exercise with the Government of Assam to get them to agree to the scheme of village relocation which would meet the operational requirements and yet be acceptable to the state government. In any case dithering on such an important policy issue on the behest of the Government of Assam, who were largely responsible for insurgency in Mizo hills, was also considered bad in Delhi in those days particularly when mounting army casualties had become a matter of serious concern. It was generally believed that the personal charm and great persuasive abilities of Lt General Sam Manekshaw that finally won over Mrs Indira Gandhi, the prime minister of India.  The army’s endeavours were fruitful and the scheme was finally cleared by the Government of India on December 5, 1966. A sensitive civil servant working in the field often criticized as pro-tribal stated, “Thus the dye was cast. A nation of 700 million people, spending 9 percent of its GDP on armed forces were told that they would not be secure unless a tribe of 290000 was confined in stockade camps because it allowed 3000 of its sons to act irresponsibly. The Indian press called it ‘operation security’ and generally accepted and even applauded it without raising an eyebrow. Some even justified it on the ground that if whole villages could be removed under the Land Acquisition Act for building a highway, a dam, a reservoir, an airport or a military cantonment, there could not be any unconstitutionality about removing 200 villages in the interest of the nation’s security on a geo-politically sensitive international border.”

In Mizoram it was introduced when some of the well planned military operations failed miserably against the MNF.  In April 1966, 61 Mountain Brigade was mounting numerous combing operations both in the interior and in the border areas. The Mizo National Army was on the run and a large number escaped to Chittagong Hill Tracts. During the monsoon the insurgents regrouped themselves and once they rains abated they infiltrated back into Mizo hills. With the induction of a number of armed police detachments, new posts were established all over Mizo hills. However it was difficult to keep vigil on all the small villages; some willingly and some under coercion continued to supply food and shelter to the rebels. So a new concept was evolved code named Operation Blanket which envisaged each company or equivalent of Assa Rifles or army to establish two posts of about 20 men each nest to villages within its area of responsibility. The sub posts were to be self contained for a fortnight and sufficiently mobile to reach remote villages threatened by undergrounds. The aim was to instill confidence in small village and gain information about the hostile and terrain. The scheme proved a partial success as the villages were too numerous for the troops to vigil and therefore the lifeline of the underground could not be cut off. The failure of the Operation Blanket led to reappraisal of the situation. It was then decided that the only way to totally isolate the guerillas from the inhabitants would be to group a number of villages into large hamlets which could then be easily watched and the depopulated areas could be easily operated upon freely. Thus a new scheme under the code name Operation Accomplishment was started for grouping of villages.

Early Experiment in Spatialisation: Grouping in Nagaland

In 1956-57 the Defence ministry of the government of Assam in a statement declared, “early in 1955 due to hostile activity by misguided Nagas the law and order situation deteriorated in the Tuensang area of the North Eastern Frontier Agency, NEFA. It was stabilized with the help of army units working in close cooperation with the Assam Rifles. But the disturbance spread into the Nagas Hills and could not be contained even with the help of the army. Therefore on 2April 1956 the responsibility of maintaining law and order in the area was handed over to the Army.” The former Director of Intelligence Bureau (IB) B N Mulllik wrote that by 1956 nearly two divisions of the army and thirty five battalions of the Assam Rifles and armed police were in operation in Naga areas “exerting maximum pressure.’  But the federal government of Nagaland, the government in exile of the Nagas raised a standing army, the Naga Home Guards within two months to match the might of the Indian army which was strong enough to recapture the headquarters of the General Officer Commanding of the Indian Army in the region. As a result more army units were deployed as a result of which, “there was nearly one security troop for every adult male Naga in Naga Hills Tuensang Areas but there was never a time when it could be claimed that the Naga guerillas has broken into submission. They (Nagas) had few odd varieties of arms, muzzle loaders, for example, they suffered terrible privations and causalities but did not give in.” This was the time when Spatialisation of population to cut off the supply link and support base of the underground from the villagers were mooted through the notorious scheme of Village Regrouping Plan. In Mizoram where it was implemented later the plan was known as Village Grouping Plan.  By Regrouping, in theory, it meant a number of villages being joined together under army’s protection. They were provided with rations and were not allowed to go out of the stockaded area even for cultivation. In practice it meant the forcible eviction of the villagers from their ancestral habitats and relocation in a site alongside the highway where their movement could be monitored by the army. The India army office through a secret order dated April 23, 1959, permitted that the villagers be ‘isolated, searched and all inhabitants gathered at central places in the village for identification/apprehension of hostiles. All these meant the complete take over of administration and control of lives of the Nagas by the Indian army. With such monstrous power the Indian army ran amok. According to this plan people of several villages were uprooted and shifted to new locations called Village Grouping Area. The ‘grouping’ of villages began in earnest later that year and continued into 1957. This involved moving the entire population of adjacent villages to one village, typically close to a road or an army camp. In February 1957, the whole population of Mangmetong was taken to Longkhum. The thousand-odd families of Longkhum and Mangmetong were moved into an area enclosed by two bamboo fences; in certain places, spikes were installed between these fence lines. Families of individuals who had gone underground were further segregated from the general population (referred to as ‘General’), with a third fence around them. The villagers were given one-week advance warning before being made to move.

The grouping was preceded by burning of the villages so that the villagers could not return and the insurgents could not return. Villages were evicted and resettled in new barricaded sites. The villagers were allowed to go out during the day and cultivate their fields under escort but had to return to the barricaded villages before nightfall. The grouping was intended to break the supply and intelligence network of the hostiles. In Mokokchong district almost every village was burnt, not just once but several times as a prelude to regrouping. Army trucks would come and inform the Gaobura or village headman that the village would be burnt. Mongjen village was burnt seven times and Mamtong nineteen times before the village could be forced to leave. Sometimes the regrouping took place much after the village had been burnt and villagers spent the intervening period in the jungles or fields around their former homes. The villagers recalled, “They had burnt our house and destroyed our granary stores before the grouping. We  took whatever rice remained and slaughtered our biggest pig. Those days there were  no shops, but I managed to buy a tin of rice later in Longkhum. We also collected  leaves of the sura tree to make our shelter in the grouping. Our daily lives were full of difficulties. We did not have enough food to cook. We did not even have clean drinking water. We were not allowed to collect firewood, and there was no space to store wood. We cooked in milk cans and everybody got only a small portion to eat. Toilet facilities were a major problem. In the absence of any open space, we had to defecate on leaves, which we then tied up and threw on the roof of our huts. Most of us slept on the floor, except some who were able to find enough material to make mats. The army gave us a few blankets, which we shared, and sometimes they surprised us by giving food and clothes….My eldest daughter was born there on 30 July. My older son was with me, but I had kept him with my brother, who was in the General. My mother-in-law, who was very old, also stayed with my brother’s family. When my daughter was born, the child had to be washed with drainage water. I sent word to my husband through some people who were allowed to go to their paddy fields. But it was impossible for him to come and see the child – he saw her only in March 1958, when we were allowed to return to our village. That year, three other babies were born in the grouping.”

Grouping centers in both Nagaland and Mizoram were chosen on the basis of size, proximity to the main road, and suitability for any army camp. Often residents of the original village were made to work as unpaid labourers and porters to help transport the belongings of the refugees. Initially the refugees would be asked to take shelter with the older residents, or occupy church or school buildings or makeshift bamboo shelters before their own houses were built. Army would sometimes allow them to dismantle their houses and carry some of the building material to the new site. The new houses were given tin shed.  The move had to be completed within a week. Each of the villagers would be given an identity number by the army on the basis of which they were allowed entry or exit from the village. The identity number was displayed on the arms of the villagers through seal. Sometime the seal was put on the forehead. If the seal was wiped out due to sweating or any other way, the entry to their own village would be prevented until the Gaon bura intervened. “Most of the villages and granaries were burnt down and the people preferred to run away and hide in jungles for safety.”  In these areas several uprooted villages were made to settle in a new site allocated by the army. Several of them were round up and put into camps far way from their homes. The camps were fenced and strongly guarded and people lived there under constant watch of the army. They were constantly interrogated and watched in these camps. 

To regularize such relocation, the Government of India passed the Nagaland Security Regulation 1962, in addition to the Armed Forces Special Power Act 1956. According to the provisions of its section 34 (1) and 36 (1)”no suit or other legal proceeding shall lie against any person or Government for any danger caused or likely to be caused by anything which is or is deemed to have been done in pursuance of this regulation or any order made or deemed to have been made thereunder.” This Regulation also provided the Governor, under Section 5A(1) to remove all or any class of residents to any other area for any length of time, if he considers to do so in public interest or in the interest of the safety and security of Nagaland and to interfere with private rights to achieve the removal.” Along with the Regrouping of villages the army raised a militia called the Village Guards in 1957 with 300 ‘loyal Nagas.’ These bands were armed to the government against the rebels. ‘The expansion of the village guards or Naga militia created fear among the underground. Their own people who could recognize them, who knew their language and their habits and hideouts were now fighting them.’ 

Army writings approvingly cited the British model in Malaya in resettling the villagers in Naga hills in large, grouped villages established under army control. The Grouping scheme began early in 1957 in the Sema Naga area. The experiment though successful in Malaya, failed in Nagaland. The army sources agreed that “the Indian government’s policy post independence of relocating the Nagas was viewed by them as an attempt to impinge o their right to live with their age old way of life. It succeeded in alienating them from not only the government but also the army. And rather than stopping the flow of support for the militants, it only strengthened the case of the insurgent groups, and enhanced animosity towards the army which adversely affected the ability to collect intelligence and amalgamate the Naga into national mainstream.” Complaints and logistical difficulties compelled the army to stop the experiment by the end of 1958. Before ending it another attempt was made in 1964 in Kohima-Mokokchong area to regroup a cluster of villages as a punitive measure which too failed in the face of resistance from people.

Although the IB chief in Nagaland B N Mullik was of the view that , “the Assamese officers Kapoor and Carvalho- assisted by Dutt and in full co operation with the army, had done marvelously well and had brough hostile Nagas almost to their Nagas by one single step of grouping of the villages. This is what had killed the Communists in Malaya and it was only a question of time before the hostiles would have been forced to surrender,’ another Indian Frontier Service official, who spent his life tackling Naga insurgency, wrote, “But in the long run it increased the misery of the people and sufferings fo the common man and made them bitter against the administration. It was true that the rebels were cut off from their own natural bases but they found sufficient help elsewhere.”  Dr Ram Manohar Lohia who managed to sneak into the Naga Hills despite a curb on such visits, stated on the floor of Lok Sabha that he found the Indian armed forces were indulging in an orgy of murder and rape. A petition to Supreme Court against the violation of human rights stated that “in the past especially in the 1950’s and early 1960’s mass torture of villagers and shifting of the whole population into concentration camps in Naga areas had been a common feature. Hardly any village untouched both in present state of Nagaland and Manipur.” An officer of the Government of India narrated his dismay at his long years of Naga experience, “After several years of carrot and stick… with nothing to show for it except a puppet government. ….Much as one admired the armed forces and sympathized with them, were they really serious when they said they could finish the job? Destroy Nagaland. Yes, by regrouping the villages so as to isolate them from contact with the hostiles, by filling the jails with suspects, by literally creating a scorched earth pace, but end the movement – by eliminating all resistance, smashing all armed band, killing or driving away forever all the hard core resistance? I wondered as I used to listen.”

It was evident that all these hardly defeated the will of the Nagas. In fact “… the grouping of villages, the isolation of all underground families in heavily guarded camps at Ghospani and… declaring of curfews in many of the villages during harvest season to pressurize…was to no avail.”  In Nagaland grouping of villages could not sustain for long due to the resistance of people. There staunch opposition from the people to such relocation. In the mean time the Chinese invasion made the government divert the armed forces to the NEFA frontier. Hence the grouping plan slowly died down. The army did not insist on its implementation in any new area. The regrouping lasted about two-three years from 1956-57. After the regrouping ended most of the villagers went back to their respective villages and continued their struggle.

Constructing the Gigantic Panopticon: Modes of Surveillance

As per the scheme the grouping of villages into large units by eviction and coerced resettlement was carried out during 1967-70. It was introduced under the provisions of Defence of India Rules 1962 and the Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act 1953. The scheme envisaged four distinct categories of grouping of villages. The first category of grouping was called Protected and Progressive Villages recommended under the within ten miles radius on the main line of Silchar-Kolashib-Aizawl-Lungleh national highway and the operation was completed in ten weeks. It involved 106 villages grouped together into eighteen grouping centre involving a total population of 52,210. By the end of February 1967 all the centers were taken over by the civil administration while the actual operation of the grouping scheme and the actually day to day security arrangements were undertaken by the military personnel. The administration of a grouping centre in this category was normally manned by a member of the Assam civil service designated as Administrative Officer or Area Administrative officer. The Second categories of grouping of villages were called “New Grouping Centre.” It was introduced in August 1969 under the provisions of the Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act 1953. It covered five sectors of the population: Tripura border, Lunglei-Lawngtlei road, Darngawn (Khawazawl) – Bungzung north Vanlaiphai-Serchchip raod and Seling-Champhai road. It involved 184 villages grouped together into 40 grouping centre with a total population of 97, 339. the actual operation of shifting of population had already started from 1967 onwards while the 1969 order regularized the movement. As in the case of the first category the civil administration in the grouping centers were left to Administrative Officers who may be in the Assam Civil Service or Senior Government employees. Military posts were created in each of the grouping centers to carry out security arrangements.

The third category of grouping called Voluntary Grouping Centre which was introduced in August 1970 again under the provisions of Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act 1953.  It covered the population from different parts of Mizo hills, involving villages grouped into twenty six grouping centre with a total involved population of 47,156. Although it was called ‘voluntary,’ the entire eviction and resettlement of people was forceful and under the military supervision. The operation had already been started in 1968 and completed by 1970 when it was legitimized by a government order.

The last category of grouping was called Extended Loop Areas ordered in 1970 again under the same 1953 law. It involved shifting of 63 villages into 17 grouping centre and a total population of 34,219. Again the actual operation had begun in 1968 and was over in 1970 when it officially flagged off. 

Besides the above category there were three more grouping centre in the villages Mamit, Tuipang and Sangau also where people forcefully evicted were resettled. The three villages had a population of 4938. thus grouping of villages in Mizo Hills during 1967-70 had affected a population of 2,36,162. All the 104 grouping centre were attached to Army posts and civil administration. As the number of grouping centre increased, the civil administration in some of the grouping centre were left under the supervision of Senior Clerks and even gram sevaks who were upgraded to the rank of Administrative Officers.

Interestingly, in some parts of Mizo hills, where the MNF influence was comparatively less, the grouping was not enforced. The total number of people ungrouped in Mizoram was 81,931. Thus out of a total population of 3,18,093 in 1970 a total of 2,36,162 or 82 percent was affected by the grouping system. In other words 82% of the total population of Mizo Hills were forcefully uprooted from their ancestral habitat and resettled in newer sites selected by the military. The official objective of “the introduction of grouping  scheme in fact had a dual purpose in the sense that his was to speed up developmental works and bring about all round development in the countryside.” A detailed study of the actual arrangement of Grouping System and its economic impact can be found in an excellent work based on field studies. The author acknowledged that the main objective of the scheme was to facilitate effective operation of the security forces against the MNF which had taken control of the interior villages spread out in far flung areas and prevent extortion of food and money by the villagers my MNF undergrounds. But the author still believed that the ‘second objective of grouping was to accelerate the progress of developmental works and to being home immediately the impact of developmental programmes hitherto almost impossible owing to scattered nature of villages coupled with extremely inadequate communication facilities. It was for this reason, it was stated, that the Planning Commission recommended the implementation and funding of the grouping scheme. The authors own study however demonstrated that the scheme had actually devastated the Mizo economy as can be seen below. Interestingly, even for Malaya where such a scheme was implemented first, it was believed that it actually accelerated the development process. 
Development Discourse

With the outbreak of the uprising it was argued that the revolt was a result of long standing neglect and deprivation. The Mizo hills had just overcome a bamboo flowering related famine in which scores of people died of starvation. There was a theory of neglect by the Assam state under which Mizoram was a district. The hectic political activity after the outbreak on the principle of fire-fighting revealed that Mizo Hills were indeed neglected and thoroughly deprived. There was not even a proper road connection through which it could be connected to the rest of the country. The theory of underdevelopment causing the revolt immediately gained credence and the state go into the act of ‘developing this interior district of the country. It was found that the villages of the Mizo hills were not only deprived, these were remote and unreachable for development agencies. Hence the spatialisation of the population was necessary to make the villages accessible to developments funds and agencies. The village grouping arrangement, it was argued, necessary to make them accessible. It was said that apart from security reasons, the grouping of villages was undertaken for the improvement of the economy of the people. The tiny villages should be grouped together so that they might be provided with greater number of social services and at the same time enable them to sell their produce profitably. The planning commission also recommended it on these grounds as early as 1965. Tarlok Singh, Member of the Planning Commission, visited Mizoram in 1966 and approved of the regrouping of villages euphemistically described as economically viable villages. The State’s rationalization was different. Nari Rustomji, the Chief Secretary, stated that “…(re)grouping has become necessary because of increasing harassment, looting and even killing my Mizo hostiles…[therefore] people of isolated villages would be moved to sager villages the shifting families would be allowed to carry with them whatever they could. The army would transport household articles which could not be carried in head load.” The State in its proclamation stated that the “objective of grouping was to accelerate the progress of developmental works and to bring home immediately the impact of developmental programmes hitherto almost impossible owing to scattered nature of villages coupled with extremely inadequate communication facilities. It was for this reason, it was stated, that the Planning Commission recommended the implementation and funding of the grouping scheme. A detailed study of the actual arrangement of Grouping System and its economic impact can be found in an excellent work based on field studies. The state had proclaimed that “the introduction of grouping scheme in fact had a dual purpose in the sense that it was to speed up developmental works and bring about all round development in the countryside.”  However the author depicted in his work that instead of hastening development it actually devastated the traditional economy of the Mizo. He also then acknowledged that the main objective of the scheme was to facilitate effective operation of the security forces against the MNF which had taken control of the interior villages spread out in far flung areas and prevent extortion of food and money by the villagers my MNF undergrounds. It is however curious that the development of an area for the first time in the history of modern India was under Defence of India rules and under the supervision of the military. It made the falsity of the state’s claim crystal clear. Of course the later three phases of grouping was carried out under the provision of Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act of 1953 rather than Defence of India rules which had been challenged as a basis for grouping in the Gauhati High Court (Chhuanvawra versus the State of Assam case). The above mentioned authors own study however demonstrated that the scheme had actually devastated the Mizo economy as can be seen below.

Creating a Community of dependents
The regrouping not only drastically altered the settlement pattern of the Mizos, it had a substantial impact on their socio-economic and cultural life. Before the introduction of the scheme, there were 764 villagers distributed in the three sub-divisions of Aizwal, Lunglei and Chhimtuipui excluding the two towns of Aizwal and Lunglei. Of these 764 villages 516 were evacuated and grouped into 110 grouping centers while 138 villagers were excluded from the grouping scheme. hus, at the completion of the grouping of villages in 1970, the total number of villages in the district had been reduced from 764 to 248. In the Aizwal sub-division alone the 456 villages before 1967 had been reduced to 112 villages involving a population of 1,88,923 or approximately 95per cent of the rural population. One set of grouping took places along the Silchar-Aizwal-Lunglei Champai highway and another along the secondary Lunglei-Lawngtai-Selling Champai, Darhgawn-Barhgawn-Bungzung-Khawbung-North Vanlaiphai Serchip Road. The grouping was done under four district categories: Protected and Progressive Villages, New Grouping Centers, Voluntary Grouping Centers and Extended Loop Areas. Although the Indian Government claimed that the grouping was necessary for the economic development of these distant villages, the operation was carried out under the Defense of India rules, 1962 and Assam Maintenance of Public Order Act, 1953.

Such forcible resettlement shattered the very foundation of the economic and social structure of the Mizos. Except the areas where wet rice cultivation was practised (Bilkawtlir, Champai, Thenzaw) the jhum method of cultivation experienced total dislocation because: 

1. The amount of cultivable land had been drastically reduced as the ratio of people to land had been with the use of force vastly increased and the curfew compelled the villagers to cultivate those areas only which was within half-a-day’s reach. So that they could go to the field and come back home before the curfew hours.

2. Jhoom cultivation, the basic method of agriculture of the tribal became virtually impossible as jhoom went only with scattered habitation. To exacerbate the situation further the tribal institution Zawlbawk, a hut built near the jhoom for camping during harvesting and weeding, was abolished. Thus, villagers had to waste precious time in traveling to the field and returning home for mid-day meals.

3. Harassment in the initial checking of identity cards and periodic curfews for collective interrogation or for re-checking identity cards further reduced working hours on the fields.

4. Male labourers on whom agriculture in Mizoram depended heavily were rounded up and sent off to work on border roads in Kashmir or were forced to act as porters for the troops during movement.

5. Access to the forest beyond the prescribed limits for vital additional food gathering was denied to the tribal by the army.

6. Since possession of even small arms were prohibited, hunting the only alternative during famines also became impossible. As a cumulative result there was a drastic fall in agricultural production and acute food shortage. Famine-like conditions were experienced through out 1968, 1969 and 1970. Landlessness emerged as a new phenomenon. In a resettled area where 400 families grouped, out of 100 persons 90 did not have any land. As a result the villagers became wholly dependent on the rations supplied by the government which was denied to them at will causing immense suffering. Soon there was a large scale migratory movement towards the towns of Aizawl and Lunglei where educated and pauperized people began to crowd around the white-collar employment sector.

The most important overall economic impact of the grouping scheme is the total devastation of the self-sufficiency of the indigenous economy and making the people depended on the administration for the basic need of the people- food. “the entire scheme was executed with efficiency and clock wise precision…wiser from its experience in Nagaland, the security forces took adequate precaution against epidemic…sufficient buffer stock of food had also been built to safeguard against disruption of supplies during the monsoons. Till such time as the people in regrouped villages can grow their own corps or find employment, the authorities are committed to feeding them free…” 

The administrative agencies under the district authorities opened schools, systematized water supply, made necessary arrangements for carrying out agricultural activities. New job opportunities were created, Test relief scheme were opened and sometimes rehabilitation grants were given. The position of supply was strengthened through the help of air Force and storage of ration was improved. An entire community was thus transformed from self-sufficient farmers to dependents of the government. Another section was absorbed into the administration ensuring their dependence on the salary for survival. The strangest part of this scheme was that ‘development’ of an area was planned under the Defence of India rules and the responsibility of this development was on the army personnel.

Surveillance and Spectacle

The State followed the principle of demonstration-effect by making the punishment, what Foucault called, a Spectacle. Right from the burning of the houses to the rape of women, arrangements were made that a spectacle was made out of it and have demonstration effect on others. This was corroborated by the army itself. A personalized account of the enormity of the exercise and its impact are provided in the reminiscence of one Army Officer, reproduced in the next section, who was engaged in the execution of the policy of relocation. While evicting the villagers from their homes, the army made it imperative that the villagers set their own home to fire. There was apparently no rationale in the idea except that the villagers would not try to return to their homes. But the demonstration effect of their home, built with care and affection, which had traces of their forefathers, memories of generations of childhood and rooted in tradition and legends was burnt by them under coercion, was a triumph of the might of the state. 

Often the villagers would agree to leave their homes but they would not set fire to their homes. In such cases the army would lit a torch themself and set fire to one of the houses. The army men recorded the reaction of the people. ‘I knew I was carrying out orders and would hate to do such a thing if I had my way. My soldiers also started torching other buildings and whole place was soon ablaze. There was absolute confusion everywhere. Women were wailing and shouting and cursing. Children were frightened and cried. Young boys and girls held hands and looked at their burning village with a stupefied expression on their faces. But the grown up men were silent; not a whimper or a whisper from them. Pigs were running about, mithuns were bellowing, dogs were barking and fowls setting up racket with their fluttering and crackling. One little girl ran into her burning house and soon darted out holding a kitten in her hands.” 

Since the Second World War, the use of rape as a weapon of war had assumed strategic importance and is now a deliberate military strategy. This is because the effects of rape and sexual violence during war also extend beyond individual victims and are economically, physically, psychologically and culturally devastating for families and communities.  Rape has been used to destabilise entire communities by creating terror. Women were specially singled out; indignities like rape, parading nude in the open and assaulting pregnant women were committed. The Human Rights Committee set up Brig. T Sailo collected detailed evidence on 36 cases of army atrocities ranging from rape and torture to execution listing the names and ranks of the army officers involved. The most shocking incident was the mass rape at Kolashib in 1966. According to information collected through interviews a number of women stated that they were raped in front of their male relatives, mostly husbands who were made to watch the whole proceedings to feel how helpless he was. In an incident a women named Lalthumai, pregnanct wife of a farmer was raped in the house of her husband at gun-point. While two soldiers held the women down, the third committed rape. Similarly, the Church building was often used to interrogate the suspects. Churches were buildings where a large group could be gathered in front of which rigorous interrogation could be organized. It was only after violent protests that the army finally stopped using the church for interrogation and rape. Interestingly, rape cases by armed forces had declined in Nagaland after Grouping was introduced. This was corroborated by the villagers. “Before the groupings, a lot of rapes were committed. The Assam police would come home and commit rapes. Even mentally unbalanced women were not spared in Longkhum. But during the grouping, no rape or sex work took place. After the grouping, however, the army came, and whenever they got a chance they continued to molest and rape women, up to 1974. The peace accord was signed in 1975, halting the atrocities. In those days, women would smear soot over their faces and act as though they were mad, so that they would not be raped. Here most will not admit it, but it was very common in those days.”

There was constant surveillance of the people in the grouped village. The villages were selected on the sides of the national highway and houses were constructed in such a manner that these were within the viewing range of the army outposts. Villages were evicted and resettled in new barricaded sites. The villagers were allowed to go out during the day and cultivate their fields under escort but had to return to the barricaded villages before nightfall. The grouping was intended to break the supply and intelligence network of the hostiles. The living condition in the Progressive Protected Villages (PPV0 was described by a foreign journalist in a contemporary report. “by the day the hill men (Mizos) are allowed to out to cultivate nearby fields. Armed troops patrol the hills to prevent any contact with Mizo National Front. By the night they must return for roll-call. The villagers were given identity cards which the farmers were supposed to carry even in the field while farming. In case they had forgotten to carry it, returning to the village would be difficult as he had to prove that he was a villager and not a MNF cadre. Thus often a genuine villager could not return to his village from the field because he could not prove his identity. It was evident that the State wanted to have constant surveillance and monitor the activity of the entire population. The entire Mizo community was suspect in the eyes of the State.

Destroying the Spirits

V S Jaffa who had served as Additional District Magistrate In Mizoram during the troubled times of Mizo hills recorded his personal experience of the tragedy. “The grouping exercise carried out over 1967-70 has left a huge scar in the Mizo psycho. The romance of the Mizo village life disappeared forever.” The living condition in the Progressive Protected Villages (PPV0 was described by a foreign journalist in a contemporary report. “by the day the hill men (Mizos) are allowed to out to cultivate nearby fields. Armed troops patrol the hills to prevent any contact with Mizo National Front. By the night they must return for roll-call. On the whole the majority of the hill men resent the new way of life. Many Mizos complain they were forcibly moved into the camps after the Indian troops systematically destroyed houses and crops to hamper the Mizo National Front. Their (Mizos) main complaint however is the shortage of food. Under shifting pattern of cultivation, the hill men require vast areas of land to produce their staple diet of rice. When crops were harvested in one field, the farmer moved to new areas allowing the jungle to reclaim exposed mountain slopes to prevent large scale soil erosion. After seven years the original paddy field is cleared and re-cultivated. Densely concentrated in PPVs and restricted to cultivating nearby fields, the hill-men now find that they cannot follow their traditional methods of farming or produce sufficient food.”

Although the regrouping facilitated army operation it caused acute human trauma to the villagers. In most instances villagers were forced to move out of their old dwellings at gun-point because they were reluctant to leave what had been their home for generations. In most cases the villagers had to leave on a day’s notice. There was no time to pack their belongings to be killed food grains to be hidden in the forest. If there was no time to hide food grains they were burnt with the houses. As soon as the people left the place the army personnel ransacked the houses, valuable were kept for themselves and then burnt them down. Hidden food grains in the forest when discovered were taken away by the troops and hoarded or villagers were ordered to burn them.  t was echoed by the civilians of Mizoram. Mizo leader R Vanlawma in his autobiography reported the villagers were shifted forcibly by the army. In most cases civilians were given one days notice to pack their belongings and move to the PPVs. Some families with children knowing that they would not be able to carry all their belongings because they had to carry their children on their backs, killed their animals, bu did not have time to eat them as the Indian military forced them at gunpoint to leave their homes. Also rice the staple food of the Mizos was taken to the outskirts of villages by some families who hoped to return after they were settled in the PPVs. But the Indian military burnt them or sold them off once the villagers left for their new settlements.

 This was corroborated by the army itself. A personalized account of the enormity of the exercise and its impact are provided in the reminiscence of one Army Officer who was engaged in the execution of the policy of relocation. “Darzo was one of the richest villages I have ever seen in this part of the world. There were ample stores of paddy, fowls and pigs. The villagers appeared well fed and well clad and most of them had some money in cash. We arrived in the village about ten in the morning. My orders were to get the villagers to collect whatever moveable property they could and to set their own village on fire at seven in the evening. I also had orders to burn all the paddy and other grain that could not be carried away by the villagers to the new centre so as to keep food out of the reach of the insurgency. For about three hours I tried to convince them that they would have to shift bag and baggage to Hnahthial Protected and Progressive Village, as the Group Centers were officially know. They argued with me endlessly until I had no choice but to tell them that the soldiers would deal with them if they did not obey my orders. It was obvious that they could carry away even one fourth of the paddy they had in storage. Now it was a dilemma as I had orders to burn all paddy that could not be carried away so that the insurgents don’t benefit from it. Imagine we were supposed to destroy all that food for which hundreds of families had toiled for months. I somehow could not do it. I called the Village Council President and told him that in three hours his men could hid all the excess paddy and other food grain in the caves and return for it after a few day under army escort. They concealed everything most efficiently.

Night fell and I had to persuade the villagers to come out and set fire to their homes. Nobody came out. Then I had to order my soldiers to enter every house and force people out. Every men, woman and child who could walk came out with as much of his or her belongings and food as they could. But they would not set fire to their homes. Ultimately I lit a torch myself and set fire to one of the houses. I knew I was carrying out orders and would hate to do such a thing if I had my way. My soldiers also started torching other buildings and whole place was soon ablaze. There was absolute confusion everywhere. Women were wailing and shouting and cursing. Children were frightened and cried. Young boys and girls held hands and looked at their burning village with a stupefied expression on their faces. But the grown up men were silent; not a whimper or a whisper from them. Pigs were running about, mithuns were bellowing, dogs were barking and fowls setting up racket with their fluttering and crackling. One little girl ran into her burning house and soon darted out holding a kitten in her hands. 

When was time for the world to sleep we marched out of Darzo – soldiers in front, with the Mizos following and the rear brought up by more soldiers. If anyone had tried to run away from the column, he would have been shot. We walked fifteen miles through the bight along the jungle and the morning saw us in Hnahthial. I tell you, I hated myself that night. I had done the job of an executioner. The night when I saw children s young as three years carrying huge loads on their heads for fifteen miles with very few stops for rest, their noses running, their little feet faltering, with pregnant women hardly able to carry their burden up the hill from the river valley – for the firest time in my life as a soldier I did not feel the burden of fifty pound haversack on my own back. It was a miracle that we reached Hnahthaial without a casualty or perhaps the Mizos were a tough people, physically and emotionally. But there was something more to be carried out. I called the Darzo Village council President and his village elders and ordered them to sign a document saying they had voluntarily asked to be resettled in Hnahthial PPV under the protection of the security forces as they were being harassed by the insurgents and because their village did not have communication, educational and medical facilities. Another document stated that they had burnt down their own village and that there was no coercion was used by the Security Forces. They refused to sign. So I sent them out and after an hour called them in again, this time one man at a time. On my table was a loaded revolver and in the corner stood two NGO’s with loaded sten-guns. This frightened them and one by one they signed both the documents.  I had to do it as I had no choice in this matter. If those chaps had gone to the civil administration or the courts with complaints, there would have been all kinds of criminal cases against us. We had to protect ourselves with these false certificates. We had no choice. All individual officers were expected to carry out their tasks in such a manner that it left no scope for embarrassment to our higher formations.” 

Though the economic devastation resulting from dislocation was quite evident, the social impact was not so visible. The people reported that more than anything else ‘it disturbed them mentally.’ The whole grouped villages were like an open jail. Villagers were given identity card which they had to carry even to their field and often the army suspected them and harassed them if they failed to produce them instantaneously. Curfew was enforced from dawn to dusk to avoid absenteeism and any movement in the night. Such constant surveillance for years had psychological impact on the villagers. The dislocation had disrupted the social practices and hindered the production of traditions. For example, before the Mizo unrest the custom of the Mizos was to build villages on the top of a ridge. The new houses in the regrouped villages were not of the traditional architecture and arrangement. The new houses were of the types that were built in the plains with kitchens separated from bedroom. A village was not just a habitat it was a heritage. Legends and stories were associated with the villages and the chiefs who led the formation of the villages. The shifting of the village not only destroyed the system of village formation and the legends and stories associated with it, no such legends were produced for the new villages as these were not formed but forced. In fact the administration did not want that people should identify themselves with their old village name as was the tradition. It revealed the real motive of the administration. According to an anthropologist, not only the religiosity of the Mizos increased in the new villages, new church denominations came after the regrouping. Among the new denominations that came up in the regrouped villages were Presbyterians, Roman Catholic, United Penta Coastal and Salvation Army Corps. With the army rule, people’s attachment to the church had also increased. But the number of churches decreased implying that people congregated in a large single church. The food habits of the Mizos had undergone a few changes. The regrouping had brought the villagers into larger and more contacts with outsiders whose culinary practices influenced the Mizos. The Mizos for the first time began to use mustard oil, wheat flour and onion and potato. The Mizos lost most of their recipes as the vegetables and the ingredients they grew and ate could not be grown in the new sites. They began to cook and eat like the plainsmen. On the hand due to night curfew the Mizo custom of nula-rim or courting of Mizo girls by Mizo young men which took place at night could not be practices anymore, on the other outsiders exploited the custom of “free mixing of Mizo boys and girls for undesirable ends.” The love songs composed after 1966 by the Mizos narrate the loneliness of the youth because of their separation from their beloveds (lung lenna). These songs came to be known as ‘kurfew songs.’ In fact in the initial period of regrouping the number of villages decreased drastically. The old conception of the village having changed and because of the reshuffling of population the traditional role of the makba (wife taking category) did not remain the same. Its role now became concise and limited. Same was true of the reciprocal exchange of gifts between the kin groups. The post-regrouping Mizoram also witnessed the popularity of choir music which in turn dislodged the traditional hmilim dances in Mizo villages. The hmilims were now isolated and were limited mostly to the older generation who found it difficult to pick up new types of discipline introduced in the Presbyterian Church. What was most striking was the occasional spurt of ‘holy spirit’ which began to manifest. Often people would be ‘possessed’ by the Holy Spirit who intriguingly spoke in unknown tongues and would shake uncontrollably and dance euphorically. The most important development was also the coming into prominence the story of lost tribe of Israel with the belief of the return of Christ. Subsequently a new group of Mizos declared themselves Jews and even migrated to the state of Israel.. The situation of Mizoram reminded one of the Emanuel Leroy Ladourie Peasants of Longuedoc where due to dispossession and counter-rebellious activity of the State, the people were affected by depression, hysteria, late marriage, sexual frustration, possession, seizures and convulsions which were experienced more by women than men. The inhuman trauma caused to the tribal by regrouping of villages has been movingly capture in the Naga and Mizo folk songs, poems and stories composed during the post-grouping period by respective bards, poets and novelists.  The Naga poet Esterine Kire wrote about the burning of her village during regrouping: 

The blue, blue hills

Their heart too grieved to heed the harvest

Maidens ceased song and mourned the 

Brave ones

And blindly followed a broken people

Who turned their backs

And slowly walked away

From a burning village, a burning village.”

The Naga poet Temsula Ao called ‘this form of group incarceration was the infamous grouping of villages which the Nagas hated and dreaded even more than bullets. The harrowing tales of people who faced forced migration are not fully known and some of the accounts have died with the unfortunate ones who did not survive the intense physical and mental torture meted out to them. If there was one single factor which further alienated the Nagas, it was this form of punishing errant villages. It was the most humiliating insult that was inflicted on the Naga psyche by forcibly uprooting them from the soil of their oritisn and being and confining them in an alien environment, denying them access to their fields, restricting them from their routine activities and more importantly, demonstrating to them tha the freedom they enjoyed could so easily be be robbed at gunpoint by the invading army For the victims the trauma goes beyond the realm of just the physical maiming and loss of life – their very humanity is assaulted and violated, and the onslaught leaves the survivors scarred both in mind and soul.’ It was a violence which debilitates not just the body but the soul; not just the present but also the future. It ‘transformed [people] into beings almost unrecognizable even to themselves…[it] revolutionized the Naga group psyche.’ “The oppressive measures adopted by the army to quell the rebellion backfired and even those villages, which were till now not directly involved in the conflict, became more sympathetic towards the underground forces when they heard of the atrocities committed by the armed forces on the villagers…the fellow villagers are in total sympathy with the so called rebels and become one of the main conduits for supplies and information to them…the entire land was caught in the new patriotic fervour that swept the imagination of the people and plunged them into a struggle which many of them did not even understand.”

The Mizo folk songs were mostly composed by the village bard Sukliana of Sialsuk:

Pity of pities our villages are grouped/Every where in Zoram, lift has lost its beauty/

Women, children, men gathered from every hill/Feel homeless and stranded like the Riakmaw bird/In the new place where friends and loved ones gathered /I still pine for our old motherland (village)/Where the gentle prince (God) who love us also dwelt

I dare not contemplate this grief of our land

Departed our white skinned mentors

Oh God who succour the poor, I pray thee

Set our tottering land on its feet again.

Silent are the countryside and the churches

Where we lived and sang with our near and dear ones

Lovely doves yearning for their mates haunt them now

And frequented by flock of birds

They now lie forlorn

O Lord forgive us all our sins and trespassers

(Which have caused us this uprootedness)

Holy Spirit, Zions fair flowers

Hold me with your powerful hand that bless men

Till I reach your sweet and bright heavenly homes.

When I recall the past

Our villages where we lived happily has become deserted

Solitary and lonesome

I cry ignoring peoples’ remarks

I feel lonely and solitude to spend the day alone

I will ever remember my village even after a long time

Just like that I promise to remember my village

Oh.! The village of Sialsuk; be not afraid, good bye for now

When I am lonely

I cry like an infant

Days and years passed by

But I still continue to sing your praise

Oh the village of Sialsuk you are too worthy

My friends and relatives

Come back to your village

Our village where we lived and enjoyed

Have become deserted

Let us mourn by crying together

So that our grief and sorrow may pass away

Let us rebuild our village

Let us ignore the kawr vai

So that we may be released from their repression

Let us adore our golden village

Let us sing a song of happiness

To let them know about us.

End of the Trauma?

The village regrouping was an ambitious plan and despite the resistance of the people, the government accomplished it by 1970. It created unending tales of gross human right violation, trauma of eviction, fake encounter, rape and indignity to women, and other atrocities. A letter to the editor in a newspaper recollected, “the report brought back memories of the bitter and trying circumstances which prevailed in the district at that time. As a member of the Assam Civil Service, I was posted in Mizo hills in 1965 and served for a short spell under R Natarajan, IAS, the then Deputy Commissioner. It was indeed a nerve wrecking experience because of the serious nature of the conflict. Under the circumstances I did my best going beyond the call of duty and at great personal risk to alleviate the untold sufferings of the people who happened to be in the areas under my jurisdiction. Undoubtedly the Mizo people suffered a lot due to the insurgency. Their plight was pathetic.” The author however did not agree that the excesses of the Indian army could be compared to the Nazis. However it cannot be denied that an entire population was permanently interned, monitored in their activity and schooled in loyalism. The resistance to this large scale inhumanity did not take any organized form but in the form that James C Scott talks about, ‘every day form of resistance.’ The Mizos went on to their day to day life but in every folk form they recorded their pangs and anguish, registered their protest against such subjection and hoped for an end to this experience. The resistance eventually took an organized form. While the last two phases of grouping of villages were being carried out, the general resentment against grouping mounted to such an extent the some Mizo groups challenged it in the Gauhati High Court as violative of their fundamental rights guaranteed in the Constitution. In its judgment in this Chhuanvawra versus the state of Assam and others case, the Gauhati High Court ordered suspension of all further grouping and asked the government to show cause why order should not be made absolute. The matter was however dropped after the government of Assam assured the court that it had no further plans of village grouping. Of course by that time the village grouping was almost complete.

In a study uncomfortable similarities were found in all the sites where relocation of population was experimented in different parts of the world either the Nazis against the Jews or in Chinese in Malaya, by Americans against the Vietnamese in Vietnam, against the Muslims in Algeria, against the blacks in Angola, Mozambique and Rhodesia. Firstly it was experimented against people who are ethnically different. Secondly, resettlement has been sued to maintain economic and strategic interests and suppress struggles for democratic advance and national and social liberation. In the third world colonialism and ethnic heterogeneity have been among the most common factors responsible for insurgency and these factors also constituted the basis for any military response to such situations. In this connection an interview with a Indian civil servant involved in grouping in north east, B K Nehru can be very pertinently quoted. In an interview to Bernard D Nossiter he was quoted as having said, “you cant talk to every damned rebel who comes along with a couple of thousand guns. Is this government of India or some Bongo-wongo? We ve got a mess on our hand and will have for some time. You cant run a government on Gandhian lines. I agree with Mao. Power comes from the end of a gun. The Nagas are petulant and pointed children. There are times when you have to face things, kill people and get killed.” On the question of prolonged warfare this cousin of Prime Minister Indira Gandhi said, It is probably a good thing to prolong the fighting; let the people get tired of it. The interviewer found that the Governor not acting not as a administrator of a liberated former colonial empire and a liberal state but ‘a colonial governor of a earlier day who might have spoken of the Indian nationalists’ in the same tone. They reflect(ed) a deep strain of contempt for the Christianized tribes.” BK Nehru’s view on the insurgents in north east was however not really unknown. On the issue of engaging with the Nagas, he was straightforward: “the (Naga) underground were law breakers and would have to dealt with as such. If the underground indulgent in violence, I would make sure they were beaten up that they would not do it again.” Similarly to a Naga sympathetic interlocutor, he said, “if each Naga killed ten Indians he would only kill five million people before killing himself. There would still remain 495 million Indians. But there would be no more Nagas left on this planet…the Nagas should realize the consequence of the continuance of violence. If of course they had a lemming complex and wanted to commit mass suicide, I really could not help them.” On Mizo hills however he was strangely against the army’s proposal of grouping. Perhaps he wanted the civil administration to deal with the issue so that he could head the operations. But once army got their proposal accepted by the Centre, the had virtually nothing to do except visit the area to ‘see what was happening.’ Hence he absolved himself of the responsibility of any wrong doings in Mizo hills.

Epilogue: Foucauldian Counter History and Indian State

In the history of mankind, according to Michel Foucault, the key issues are power and knowledge. Power is exercised through the claimed authority of knowledge. And knowledge and power work through language. It is this language which was used to invent the central mechanism of social sciences – the categorization of people into ‘normal’ and ‘abnormal’. Such definitions of human beings are done through a number of institutions like the schools, colleges, universities, hospitals, asylums, prisons, factories and law courts. Normal people are those who accept the authority of this knowledge as well as practice them unhesitatingly and accept the hegemony of the existing power structure. Abnormal people are those who do not. There are various forms of disciplining and punishing the abnormal people till they are reformed into normal people. The mechanism was ‘exclusion.’ Rebels of any kind are one such category of abnormal people. But abnormality was not necessarily confined to mind only it could be reflected in the body in the form of illness.  The Mizo rebels questioned the legitimacy of Indian state to rule over them and decided to subvert the illegitimate regime. It was a critique, a deviant behaviour; it was non conformism’ it was rebellion. It was an abnormality which required punishing and disciplining. Initially it was done through a discourse of ‘causes and explanation framework’. In a series of counter insurgency texts the theory of deprivation, underdevelopment, neglect, internal colonialism were invented to ‘regard that insurgency was external’ to the rebels consciousness and ‘cause is made to stand in as a phantom surrogate for reason, the logic of that consciousness.” In other words a discourse was established that the rebels were actually ‘normal’ (read conformist) people but due to certain reasons they had turned ‘rebels.’ The cause was deprivation and underdevelopment and hence a development initiate was taken to address the ‘cause.’ It was aimed also at preventing further conversion of people into such rebels through such ‘development’ initiative. But development discourse could not be entirely relied upon as there was an inherent disbelief in the cause theory put forward. So there was need to monitor the activity of the people because the state perceived it was in a ‘danger zone’ where its legitimacy was being questioned. The other fear was that the counter discourse of ‘separateness’ by the MNF could prove more powerful than the state discourse. Hence a two fold strategy was invented. One was aimed at attacking the body wherein rebels and suspects were taken into army custody, physically tortured, sacked from jobs and their women raped. Two, watch the mind through constant monitoring. The Monitoring an entire community required an elaborate surveillance network. Borrowed from the colonial regimes elsewhere it decided to transform the architectural design of the Mizo habitat. It produced what was known as ‘Grouping of Village.’ The grouping plan was devised to establish an open prison where current and prospective rebels could be permanently observed. At the same time this arrangement could also reform the dissidents and convert them into Statist ideologues through prolonged confinement as prisoners in their own homes. With this idea the entire Mizo hills was converted into an open prison. People were evicted from their ancestral habitats and coerced into living in this open prison ironically called Progressive and Protective Villages and so on. It was a gigantic Panopticon which was sort of a permanent observatory. “In the case of such observation, the traffic of surveillance travels only one way: towards the subject upon whom the technique is exercised.” The subject of surveillance does not have the reciprocal power to observe the observer. According to Foucualt such disciplinary power was one of great inventions of bourgeois society and is the primary means whereby the cohesion of this type of social body was ensured and maintained. It was aimed at reorganizing the forces of the body so as to foster ‘useful obedience. “What was then being formed was a policy of coercion that acts on the body, a calculated manipulation of its elements, its gestures, and its behaviour. The human body was entering a machinery of power that explores it, breaks it down and rearranges it.” Discipline in such country wide-prisons and prolonged living in a regimented life produced practiced bodies which would unquestioningly follow the existing order of things and flush out forces which produce disobedience. The grouping system in Mizo hills had actually produced such a result and that is the actual reason of oft-cited success of the Mizo Accord signed in 1986.

The apparent success of the grouping plan, as part of the counter insurgency strategy made the schools of Indian counter insurgency thought jubilant and wanted to institutionalize their ideas into sustainable counter insurgency practices. The Counter Insurgency and Jungle Warfare School in Vairengte, Mizoram, India has been a result of this endeavour. Established as a training institution of the Indian Army specializing in unconventional warfare, especially guerrilla warfare, it quickly developed a reputation as one of the premier counter-insurgency military training institutions in the world. The motto "fight a guerrilla like a guerrilla" has been its forte for years. Initially it was sought to be set up in Halflong, a rather peaceful township in North Cachar, it was soon shifted to Vairengte, the gateway to Mizo hills where there was an ongoing insurgency and various counter insurgency ideas were being implemented. The original plans to set up a counterinsurgency unit to train soldiers came up following fighting with Mizo militants in the 1960s. General Sam Manekshaw mooted the idea for such training and it took shape in 1967. The crisis in neighbouring Bangladesh however prompted a temporary rethinking as the academy trained the Mukti Bahini guerrillas to attack Pakistan Army strongholds. Operation Jackpot was one such naval operation undertaken by the rebels largely aided and planned by Indians that drove home the strength of this school. After the Indo-Pakistani War of 1971, it returned to its primary focus of counterinsurgency. The successful signing of the Mizo Accord in 1986 with the MNF and the surrender of the Mizo insurgents substantiated the ideas of counter insurgency implemented in Mizo hills. The beginning of terrorist attacks by different Islamic militant organization on various European nations and even USA in the 1990’s only reaffirmed the need of training of army in counter insurgency methods. Various American and European Universities began new course on counter terrorism. One such course offered by Monash University of Australia became quite popular. But for counter insurgency the institution in Mizoram, (India) remained unparalleled. This unknown institution in a remote part of India thus began to play host to visiting military units from the United States, Singapore, Nepal, Bhutan, Russia, Britain, France, Bangladesh and many other countries. The success of this school prompted another counterinsurgency training centre, the Kaziranga special jungle warfare training school in North Eastern India. Interestingly the CIJW not only provided trained personnel to tackle the newly emerged Maoist insurgency in central and Eastern India, the same the Mizo and Naga armed forces who had once suffered the trauma of Indian State’s counter insurgency measures were made to practice the same on the tribal people of Chattisgarh and Madhya Pradesh. An interesting experimentation with what Foucault called, Bio-politics.
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